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ABOUT US
Established in 1993, Dynamic Colours Limited is principally engaged in the business of colour compounding and
modified compounding of resins, which are used in the manufacture of external casings or component parts of
electrical appliances and electronic devices. We supply our products to plastic injection moulders (PIMs) and original
equipment manufacturers (OEMs) who in turn serve customers such as Hewlett-Packard, Toshiba, Dell, BenQ,
Avision, Sony, Microsoft and Asus. Our resin compounding production facilities in Suzhou are amongst the largest
in Jiangsu Province, PRC, and are strategically located near existing and potential clients.
In Singapore, our production facilities manufacture heavy-duty polyethylene bags and other plastic packaging
materials. Presently, we serve mainly the petrochemical hub on Jurong Island and count amongst our customers
leading companies such as ExxonMobil, Chevron Phillips and The Polyolefin Company (Singapore) Pte Ltd.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
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* Injection of different colours into resins
Colour
Compounding

used to manufacture plastic component
parts of devices

* Enhances the aesthetic appeal of

electronic devices with a wide variety
of colours

Resin
Compounding

Examples:
Computers, printers, scanners, keyboards,
handphones, vacuum cleaners, LCD television
sets and air-conditioners
Examples:
Common colours, pearly-lustre, fluorescent,
phosphorescent, assorted texture, thermochromic and photo-chromic colours

* Injection of additives such as glass fibres, carbon fibres, mineral fillers
and other chemicals into plastic resins

Modified
Compounding

Heavy-duty
polyethylene
bags

Polyethylene
Packaging

Generalpurpose
polyethylene
packaging
materials

* Enhances the physical characteristics

of plastic resins, by making them flameretardant, heat-resistant, anti-fungal,
with increased tensile and/or impact
strength

Examples:
Used in manufacturing power tools, power
devices and other electronic devices

* Used by petrochemical companies to pack polyethylene and
polypropylene resins

* Custom-made according to size, printing, embossing and film performance
* Used for storage and packing

Resin
Compounding

purposes

Examples:
Refuse bags for the Japanese market

Polyethylene
Packaging

Over 10 years in the market have
made our brand name synonymous with
HIGH-QUALITY compounded resins and
polyethylene packaging

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
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“We believe our growth will continue based
on outstanding product innovation, operating
efficiency, as well as the management
insight, strong market position and customer
relationships accumulated over the years.”
Dear Shareholders
The year 2007 was eventful for Dynamic Colours Limited

FY2007 Performance Highlights and Dividends

(the “Group”). We achieved two significant milestones this

We are pleased to complete our inaugural year as a public

financial year. Besides our successful listing on the Singapore

company with good results. We have demonstrated our ability

Exchange, we also received the 2007 Enterprise 50 award, a

to compete in our niche markets and in meeting challenging

prestigious award that signifies entrepreneurial excellence.

market demands. The financial results for the year surpassed
expectations and we ended the year with a strengthened

Our Group obtained a listing on the Singapore Exchange

balance sheet and a solid foundation to pursue further growth

and successfully raised about S$12.0 million from the initial

in China and the region.

public offering (“IPO”) of 64.5 million shares. The infusion of
additional capital has enabled our Group to further develop

Group turnover rose 45.6 % to US$94.7 million due mainly to

our operations in the markets.

an increase in the resin compounding business. The Group
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recorded profit before tax of US$3.3 million, an increase

strengthen our competitive advantages. We target to increase

of 18.4% due mainly to the increase in revenue during the

the current annual designed production capacity of our resin

year. Net profit after tax rose by 7.1% from US$2.6 million

compounding facilities to approximately 120,000 tonnes by

to US$2.8 million. For the year ended 31 December 2007

the end of FY2008. Our new production plants in Suzhou and

(“FY2007”), the Board has recommended a maiden first and

Vietnam are slated to start operations in the second quarter

final dividend of S$0.01 per share, tax exempt.

of FY2008.

Outlook and Strategy – Focusing on Quality,
Efficiency and Relationships

For polyethylene packaging production facilities, we will

It is indeed gratifying to record a year of substantial progress

for the increased output by our major customers in Singapore,

despite a weakening US dollar and rising costs in China and

and will set up a new facility in Suzhou in order to tap into the

Singapore. We were able to do well under the uncertain

PRC market. In this regard, we have leased another factory

economic conditions as our Group is founded on well-

in Suzhou’s Jiangsu Wuzhong Export Processing Zone

established fundamentals and strong market positioning. We

(Standard Factory B) which will have an annual designed

are also staffed by an innovative and resilient group of people

production capacity of approximately 6,000 tonnes by the

and we have the potential to grow further in the growing

end of FY2008.

commence upgrading of our production lines in preparation

markets such as China and in other regional countries.
In summary, efficiency and innovation will be the key to our
Our listing on the Singapore Exchange is undoubtedly an

success. We believe our growth will continue based on

important milestone in our corporate history. Capitalising

outstanding product innovation, operating efficiency, as well

on the strong demand for IT and electronic products with

as the management insight, strong market position and

quality colours and finishing and the rapidly expanding IT and

customer relationships accumulated over the years. Looking

electronics industry in the PRC, we plan to leverage on our

ahead for the year, barring unforeseen circumstances, there

strong expertise and established market presence to launch

is reason for us to be confident that further progress will be

the next phase of expansion for our resin compounding

made in enhancing shareholder value.

business.
Challenges brought about by uncertainty in the global
As a leading manufacturer and supplier of heavy-duty

economy suggest room for improvement in our future financial

polyethylene packaging bags to blue-chip MNCs, the Group is

performance, which will depend on how we rationalise our cost

also set to ride on the expansion of our customers’ businesses

structure by controlling overheads and streamlining business

and the booming petrochemical industry in Singapore and

processes. We are committed to meeting shareholder

PRC for our future growth.

expectations and realising the full potential of the Group.

Our resin compounding and polyethylene packaging facilities

Acknowledgements

are strategically located in close proximity to our clients in order

On this note, I wish to thank all our employees for their

to meet urgent turnaround requirements and provide just-in-

outstanding contribution over the years. To our shareholders,

time service. We have also gained customer confidence and

business associates and customers, I would like to express

a healthy track record through the years.

my appreciation for your continuing support and together, let
us work towards another year of progress.

The Dynamic Path
We have embarked on our plans in China and Vietnam
to build larger capacity for our resin compounding and

Yeo Hock Leng

polyethylene business to capture a bigger market share and

Executive Chairman and Group Managing Director

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Revenue

PBT

US$’000

PAT

US$’000

94,693

US$’000

65,029

3,294

2,808

40,053
25,275

2,622

2,782

1,744
1,639

2,242
1,915

2004

2005

2006

2007

2004 2005

2006

2007

2004 2005

Basic Earnings Per
Ordinary Share

Net Asset Value Per
Ordinary Share

US cents

US cents

2006

2007

13.70
2.00

12.10
1.85

11.93
11.27

1.80
1.60

2004

2005

2006

2007

2004

2005

2006

2007

For comparative purposes, prior year earnings per ordinary share and net asset value per ordinary share were computed based on share capital
of 145,471,310 (2005:120,013,830; 2004:76,372,440) shares as if the share capital of the Company has been subdivided into 10 ordinary shares
for every one share.

Revenue By Business Segment
8.3%

100%

2004
Polyethylene packaging

19.5%

14.3%

91.7%

80.5%

85.7%

2005

2006

2007

Resin compounding

Increasing RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT
enable us to expand our product range
and serve new markets, such as the
automotive industry

OPERATIONS REVIEW
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2800000
The net profit for FY2007 was US$2.8 million,
a rise of 7.1% compared to US$2.6 million
achieved in the previous year.
Overview

Group’s business and the customers are mainly plastic

The core businesses of the Dynamic Colours Group

injection moulders in the IT and electronics industry. The

(the “Group”) are resin compounding and polyethylene

Group’s products are one of the key raw materials for

packaging. The former is conducted by the Group’s wholly

manufacturing plastic component parts of electronics and

owned subsidiaries in Suzhou, namely, Suzhou Huiye Plastic

IT devices such as LCD monitors, scanners, printers, and

(“SHP”) and Suzhou Huiye Chemical (“SHC“), while the latter

keyboards, among others.

is carried out by SL Packaging (“SLP”) in Singapore.
Under the polyethylene packaging business, the Group
In FY2007 the resin compounding business accounted for

produces heavy duty polyethylene packaging materials

85.7% (FY2006: 80.5%) of the Group’s revenue, while the

for

balance of 14.3% (FY2006: 19.5%) was contributed by the

at Singapore’s Jurong Island. It also produces refuse

polyethylene business.

polyethylene packaging materials for the Singapore and

multinational

petrochemical

companies

located

Japanese markets.
Sales volume from resin compounding business was 46,000
tonnes in FY2007, increased by 42.5% as compared to

For FY2007, the annual designed production capacity for the

previous year’s volume of 32,000 tonnes.

polyethylene packaging business in Singapore was 11,280
tonnes.

The additional polyethylene packaging facilities

The Group’s annual designed production capacity had

in the PRC will add approximately 6,000 tonnes to total

increased significantly over the last three financial years.

production capacity when they become fully operational by

With the completion of a new integrated warehouse and

the end of FY2008.

factory in Suzhou, PRC at the end of FY2007; the leasing
of additional factories in Suzhou, PRC and Vietnam; and

Revenue and Net Profit

the upgrading and purchase of new production equipment,

The Group registered a revenue growth of 45.6% reaching

our annual designed production capacity is expected to

US$94.6 million in FY2007 as compared with US$65.0

increase in FY2008.

million in FY2006. This was primarily driven by an increase
in the revenue from the resin compounding business.

The main customers for the resin compounding business
are primarily located in Zhejiang and Jiangsu, which includes

Revenue from resin compounding business increased by

Suzhou, Kunshan and Wuxi, in addition to Shanghai in

55.1% from US$52.3 million in FY2006 to US$81.1 million

the PRC. Compounding services and/or the supply of

in FY2007, mainly due to the increase in sales volume

compounded resins to customers are the mainstay of the

from 32,000 tons in FY2006 to 46,000 tons in FY2007.
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This increase was driven by customers’ expansion as well

to US$486,000 in FY2007, due to the cessation of tax

as the Group’s marketing efforts which emphasised a close

exemption incentives granted to one of the subsidiaries in

working relationship with key customers who are leaders in

Suzhou which expired at the end of FY2006. The net profit

their respective fields. Being a strategic supplier to these key

for FY2007 was US$2.8 million, a rise of 7.1% compared to

customers, the Group experienced strong growth as and

US$2.6 million achieved in the previous year.

when customers launched new products. Besides being
volume driven, the increase in revenue was also price driven,

Financial Position

where prices were adjusted accordingly with increases in raw

Property, plant and equipment increased due to construction

material prices.

costs incurred for a new leasehold factory and purchases of
production equipment for the resin compounding business.

Other income decreased by 53.3% from US$818,000 in

In line with the revenue growth in FY2007, trade and other

FY2006 to US$382,000 in FY2007 due primarily to lower

receivables, inventories as well as payables were higher as of

sales of scrap and the absence of a refund of corporate tax

31 December 2007. Cash and share capital increased due to

paid by a subsidiary.

the inflow of funds raised from the initial public offering.

Administrative expenses increased by 25.3% from US$1.8

The Group’s negative cash flow of US$5.3 million from its

million in FY2006 to US$2.3 million in FY2007 due mainly to

operating activities was due to higher working capital required

the expansion of our business activities.

to support peak season sales in the second half of FY2007. In
investing activities, the Group invested US$2 million into the

Net finance costs increased from US$226,000 in FY2006

construction of its new integrated warehouse and factory in

to US$707,000 in FY2007. The increase was due to the

Suzhou and for the purchase of production equipment. The

increase in interest expense and loss in foreign exchange.

Group generated US$9.8 million from its financing activities.

Interest expense rose in FY2007 due to higher utilisation of

The main financing activity relates to the issuance of new

trade facilities, term loans and higher level of working capital

shares, which comprised funds from the initial public offering

needs due to the higher sales. The loss in foreign exchange

in November 2007.

was due to weakening of US dollars against the Renminbi and
Singapore dollar.
As a result of our higher revenue, our profit before tax
increased by 18.4% from US$2.8 million to US$3.3 million.
Income tax expense increased from US$160,000 in FY2006

PRODUCTION CAPABILITIES
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By the end of FY2008, we aim to increase our
annual designed production capacity for resin
compounding to about 120,000 tonnes and
establish an annual designed capacity of about
6,000 tonnes for polyethylene packaging in the
PRC.

China

Suzhou, PRC
Constructed new integrated warehouse
and factory to increase our capacity for
resin compounding in Suzhou, PRC

Jiangsu Wuzhong Export
Processing Zone, PRC
Established new production facilities to
increase capacity for resin compounding
Established new production facilties to
support existing customers’ new orders

Vietnam

Vietnam
Established new production facilities to support
an existing customer’s expansion into Vietnam

Singapore

Singapore
Acquire and upgrade machinery and
equipment
Resin compounding production facilities
Polyethylene packaging production facilities

Being one of the largest resin
compounders in Jiangsu, we maintain
stocks of commonly used resins which
gives us the ability to offer JUST-IN-TIME
services to meet clients’ requests

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Mr Yeo Hock Leng

Ms Goh Seok Eng

Mr Sim Beng Chye

Executive Chairman and

Deputy Group Managing Director and

Lead Independent Director

Group Managing Director

Technical Director

Mr Yeo Hock Leng is our Executive

Ms Goh Seok Eng is our Deputy Group

Chairman and Group Managing Director

Managing Director and Technical Director.

and was appointed to our Board on 2

She was appointed to our Board on 2 July

July 1993. He has more than 20 years

1993. Ms Goh has 24 years of experience

of experience in the resin pigment and

in the resin pigment and compounding

compounding industry.

industry and is overall in-charge of technical
matters, quality control, purchasing and

He co-founded BS Colours with his

product development at our SHC and SHP

wife, Ms Goh Seok Eng, in 1987. From

plants. Ms Goh graduated from Singapore

1987 to 1990, Mr Yeo was the manager

Polytechnic with a Diploma in Chemical

of BS Colours, where he oversaw the

Process Technology in 1982. She started

production and sales aspects of BS

her career as a colour pigment chemist in

Colours’ business. Prior to BS Colours,

1983 with Burkill (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. where

Mr Yeo worked for several years as a

she was eventually promoted to Head of

production supervisor in the mechanical

Department (Technical Services) in 1984.

and engineering sector.
Together with Mr Yeo Hock Leng, she
In 1991, Mr Yeo co-founded Dynamic

co-founded BS Colours, which is a local

Way Sdn Bhd (“Dynamic Way”) with Ms

company specialising in the trading of colour

Goh Seok Eng and a few other business

pigments, in 1987. From 1987 to 1990,

associates. He was responsible for

Ms Goh managed the operations of BS

managing matters relating to Dynamic

Colours and was responsible for raw material

Way’s production and sales during

procurement as well as technical matters.

the period from 1991 to 1995. Since

She subsequently co-founded Dynamic

1996, Mr Yeo has been based in the

Way with Mr Yeo Hock Leng in 1991 and

PRC, where our Group’s operations

was the manager of its resin compounding

are principally located. As our Group

department. In 1996, Ms Goh relocated to

Managing Director, Mr Yeo is responsible

the PRC, where she has since been involved

for

and

in managing the operations of Suzhou Huiye

strategic development of our Group’s

Chemical and Suzhou Huiye Plastic. Ms

business operations.

Goh holds an Advanced Diploma in Polymer

the

general

management

Technology, which was awarded by the
Singapore Polytechnic in 1986.

Mr Sim Beng Chye is our Lead
Independent Director and was
appointed to our Board on 24
September 2007. Mr Sim has
accumulated more than 25 years of
experience in the plastic components
industry. Mr Sim worked with Hewlett
Packard Singapore prior to cofounding Omni Plastics Pte Ltd in 1991
and Omni Industries Limited (“Omni
Industries”) in 1995. Mr Sim served as
an executive director on the board of
Omni Industries from 1997 to October
2001, after its listing on the Stock
Exchange of Singapore in 1997. Mr
Sim was subsequently appointed as
the Vice-President of Celestica Inc.’s
(“Celestica”) global plastics operations
in October 2001 after the acquisition of
Omni Industries by Celestica. Mr Sim
left Celestica in 2002 and is currently
a private investor holding directorships
in several companies.
Mr Sim was awarded a Certificate
in Industrial Management from the
Singapore Polytechnic in 1981. He also
holds a Graduate Diploma in Business
Administration from the Singapore
Institute of Management.
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Mr Chong Yee Siew Sebastian
Independent Director

Mr Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim
Chye Huat

Mr Teo Yi-Dar
Non-Executive Director

Independent Director
Mr Chong Yee Siew Sebastian is our
Independent Director and was appointed
to our Board on 24 September 2007.
Mr Chong began his career in 1971 with
Turquands Ernst & Whinney as an audit
assistant. He was promoted to audit
manager in 1977 and was responsible
for leading the external audit of several
groups of companies.
In 1980, Mr Chong joined the Faculty of
Accountancy and Business Administration
of the National University of Singapore
and was with the National University
of Singapore for 23 years before his
retirement in 2003. He also holds a
Master of Economics in Accounting
from the University of Sydney which was
awarded in 1983.
Mr Chong is currently a member of the
management committee of the Securities
Investors
Association
(Singapore).
Mr Chong has also previously been a
member of the Financial Statements
Review
Committee
and
Auditing
Practices Committee of the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, Singapore
from 1983 to 1996.

Mr Bobby Lim Chye Huat is our
Independent Director and was
appointed to our Board on 1 March
2008. Mr Lim has over three decades
of experience in the electrical and
engineering business. Mr Lim has
been the Managing Director of Tai
Sin Electric Limited since October
1997 and is responsible for the overall
management, strategic directions and
business development of the Tai Sin
Group. Prior to his current position, Mr
Lim was the director of Lim Kim Hai
Electric Co (S) Pte Ltd from 1972 to
1997.

Mr Teo Yi-Dar was appointed to our
Board on 26 March 2007. He is an
investment professional with SEAVI
Advent Corporation. His role in SEAVI
Advent Corporation is mainly to
conduct investments in the electronics,
chemical, engineering and technology
sectors in the PRC and ASEAN
region. Prior to joining SEAVI Advent
Corporation in 1999, Mr Teo was a
business development executive with
Keppel Corporation Ltd from 1997
to 1999. He worked as an engineer
at SGS-Thomson Microelectronics
between 1996 to 1997.

Mr Lim is the current Chairman of
The National St. John Council. He is
also a member of the British Institute
of Management and an Honorary
Fellow of the Singapore Institute of
Engineering Technologists. Mr. Lim
was awarded the Public Service Medal
(PBM) in 2006.

Mr Teo holds two Masters Degrees,
namely a Master of Science in
Industrial and Systems Engineering
and a Master of Science in Applied
Finance, which he had obtained from
the National University of Singapore
in 1998 and 2000 respectively. He
graduated from the National University
of Singapore with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Engineering (Honours) in 1996.
He obtained his Chartered Financial
Analyst qualification in 2001.

KEY MANAGEMENT
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Mr Law Cheong Yan
Mr Law Cheong Yan is our Chief Financial Officer. He was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of our Group in July 2005.
He is responsible for the overall control of our Group’s accounting and financial matters. From 2004 to 2005, Mr Law was
appointed General Manager (China Operations) of Metalform Pte Ltd to start up Metalform (Wuxi) Precision Engineering
Co., Ltd. He was also appointed as the General Manager/Director of Metalform (Wuxi) Precision Engineering Co., Ltd. From
1999 to 2004, he was the Financial Controller of Chip Eng Seng Corporation Ltd, where he handled accounting, finance
and investors’ relations matters. From 1995 to 1999, Mr Law worked for KPMG, where he was involved in performing audit
work.
Mr Law holds a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours) Degree from the Nanyang Technological University. Mr Law is a nonpractising member of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.

Mr Tan Soon Lim
Mr Tan Soon Lim is the General Manager of our PRC resin compounding business. Mr Tan joined our Group in March 1996.
Mr Tan was one of the key members in establishing Suzhou Huiye Chemical and has over the years developed an efficient
production and quality assurance system for Suzhou Huiye Chemical. He currently oversees the administration, human
resource, logistics and expansion plans of Suzhou Huiye Chemical and Suzhou Huiye Plastic.
Prior to joining our Group in 1996, Mr Tan was a factory manager with General Paragon Sdn Bhd for four years. From
1988 to 1992, he was employed by BKI Pte Ltd, a Singapore-based plastic injection moulder, as a factory manager. From
1976 to 1987, Mr Tan was with Tomy (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. where he rose up the ranks and eventually held the position of a
purchasing manager.
Mr Tan was certified by the SANNO Institute of Business Administration, Japan, as a qualified manufacturing management
assistant, manufacturing management specialist and manufacturing management coordinator in 1982, 1983 and 1984
respectively.

Mr Lee Kok Chong @ Lee Kok Keong
Mr Lee Kok Chong @ Lee Kok Keong is the Managing Director of our Singapore polyethylene business. He was one of the
founders of S.L. Packaging, when it was first established in 1980. He played a key role in streamlining the operations of S.L.
Packaging by introducing quality machinery which effectively led to an increase in the operational efficiency of S.L. Packaging.
He was also responsible for spearheading S.L. Packaging’s efforts to enter the Japanese market, where S.L. Packaging has
a relatively sizeable market share of the refuse bag supply business.

Mr Lee Wai Yin
Mr Lee Wai Yin is the Deputy General Manager of our Singapore polyethylene business. He joined S.L. Packaging in
2003, where he first started work as a sales executive. He also spent some time at the production department prior to his
appointment as our sales manager the following year.
In recognition of Mr Lee’s contributions to S.L. Packaging, Mr Lee was promoted to his present position in 2005. He is
now overall in-charge of handling the operational aspects of S.L. Packaging’s business as well as its sales and business
development.
Mr Lee Wai Yin graduated from York University, where he was conferred a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, in 2002.
None of our Directors and Executive Officers are related by blood or marriage to one another nor are they related to any
Directors, Executive Officers or Substantial Shareholders of our Company save for Mr Yeo Hock Leng, who is the husband
of Ms Goh Seok Eng and Mr Lee Kok Chong, who is the father of Mr Lee Wai Yin.

GROUP STRUCTURE
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100%

100%

S.L. Packaging
Industries Pte. Ltd.

DC (Suzhou) Polymer
Co., Ltd.

100%

100%

Dynamic
Colours Limited

Suzhou Huiye
Chemical & Light
Industry Co., Ltd.

Huiye (Vietnam) Plastic
Co., Ltd

100%

100%

Suzhou Huiye Plastic
Industry Co., Ltd.

Suzhou S.L. Packaging
Co., Ltd.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Executive:
Executive Chairman and Group Managing Director
Yeo Hock Leng

Law Cheong Yan, CPA
Tan Ping Ping, ACIS
Lim Chee Ying, ACIS

Deputy Group Managing Director and Technical Director
Goh Seok Eng

REGISTERED OFFICE

Non-executive:
Sim Beng Chye (Lead Independent Director)
Chong Yee Siew Sebastian (Independent Director)
Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim Chye Huat (Independent
Director)
Teo Yi-Dar

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Sim Beng Chye (Chairman)
Chong Yee Siew Sebastian
Teo Yi-Dar

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Sim Beng Chye (Chairman)
Chong Yee Siew Sebastian
Teo Yi-Dar

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Chong Yee Siew Sebastian (Chairman)
Sim Beng Chye
Teo Yi-Dar

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Law Cheong Yan
Chief Financial Officer
Tan Soon Lim
General Manager of our PRC resin compounding
business
Lee Kok Chong @ Lee Kok Keong
Managing Director of our Singapore polyethylene
packaging business
Lee Wai Yin
Deputy General Manager of our Singapore 			
polyethylene packaging business

55A Yishun Industrial Park A
SL Building
Singapore 768729

SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services
(A division of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd.)
8 Cross Street #11-00
PWC Building
Singapore 048424

AUDITORS
KPMG
16 Raffles Quay
#22-00 Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581

PARTNER-IN-CHARGE
Tan Huay Lim
Date of Appointment: 17 April 2006

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Dynamic Colours Limited (the “Company”) was listed on the Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 23 November 2007. The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate
governance within the Group. The Company believes it has put in place effective self-regulatory corporate practices to
protect its shareholders’ interests and enhance long-term shareholders’ value. The Board is pleased to report on the
Company’s corporate governance processes and activities as required by the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the
“Code”) prescribed by the SGX-ST. For easy reference, sections of the Code under discussion are specifically identified.
However, this Report should be read as a whole as other sections of this Report may also have an impact on the specific
disclosures.

Board Matters
Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) comprises the following members:
Executive Directors
Mr Yeo Hock Leng (Executive Chairman and Group Managing Director)
Ms Goh Seok Eng (Deputy Group Managing Director and Technical Director)
Non-executive Director
Mr Teo Yi-Dar
Independent Directors
Mr Sim Beng Chye
Mr Chong Yee Siew Sebastian
Mr Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim Chye Huat
Apart from its statutory duties and responsibilities, the Board performs the following functions:(a)

provide entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic aims, and ensure that the necessary financial and human resources
are in place for the Group to meet its objectives;

(b)

establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed;

(c)

review management performance;

(d)

set the Group’s values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and others are understood and
met;

(e)

nomination of Directors to the Board;

(f)

appointment of key personnel;

(g)

review the financial performance of the Group and implementing policies relating to financial matters, which include
risk management and internal control and compliance; and

(h)

assuming responsibility for corporate governance.

These functions are carried out either directly or through Board Committees such as the Nominating Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.
Matters which are specifically reserved to the full Board for decision are those involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or a Director, material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate or financial restructuring, share issuance
and dividends, and financial results and corporate strategies.
Formal Board meetings are held at least twice a year to oversee the business affairs of the Group, and to approve, if
applicable, any financial or business objectives and strategies. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when the circumstances
require. The Company’s Articles of Association allow a Board meeting to be conducted by way of tele-conference and
video-conference.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Since listing on the Mainboard, the Board and Board Committees collectively held five meetings to-date and the attendance
of each Director at every Board and Board Committee meeting is as follows :-

Board
Number of
Meetings
held : 1

Audit
Committee
Number of
Meetings
held : 2

Nominating
Committee
Number of
Meetings
held : 1

Remuneration
Committee
Number of
Meetings
held : 1

Number of
Meetings
attended

Number of
Meetings
attended

Number of
Meetings
attended

Number of
Meetings
attended

Yeo Hock Leng

1

N/A

N/A

N/A

Goh Seok Eng

1

N/A

N/A

N/A

Sim Beng Chye

1

2

1

1

Chong Yee Siew Sebastian

1

2

1

1

Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim Chye Huat *

0

N/A

N/A

N/A

Teo Yi-Dar

1

2

1

1

Name

*

Mr Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim Chye Huat was appointed to the Board on 1 March 2008. The above meetings were held prior to his
appointment.

*

N/A : Not Applicable

All Directors are provided with regular updates on changes in the relevant laws and regulations to enable them to make wellinformed decision and to ensure that the Directors are competent in carrying out their expected roles and responsibilities.
Management will conduct briefings and orientation programmes to familiarise newly appointed Directors with the various
businesses, operations and processes of the Group.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance
The Board comprises six Directors, one of whom is non-executive Director and three are independent Directors. The
independence of each Director will be reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee adopts
the Code definition of what constitutes an independent Director in its review.
The Board will constantly examine its size and, with a view to determining the impact of the number upon effectiveness,
decide on what it considers an appropriate size for the Board, which facilitates effective decision making. The composition
of the Board will be reviewed on an annual basis by the Nominating Committee to ensure that the Board has the
appropriate mix of expertise and experience.
The Board, taking into account the nature of operations of the Company, considers its current size to be adequate for
effective decision making.
Non-executive Directors constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy and review the performance of
management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting of performance.
Key information regarding the Directors’ academic and professional qualifications and other appointments is set out on
pages 12 and 13 of the Annual Report.

Principle 6: Access to Information
To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, the Board is provided with management reports containing relevant
background or explanatory information required to support the decision making process. The Board is provided with
complete, adequate and timely information prior to each Board meeting.
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The Board has separate and independent access to senior management and the Company Secretary at all times. The
Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and ensures that all Board procedures are followed. The Company
Secretary also ensures that the Company complies with the requirements of the Companies Act and the SGX-ST.
If any of the Directors require independent professional advice in the furtherance of their duties, the cost of such professional
advice will be borne by the Company.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
It is the view of the Board that it is in the best interest of the Group to adopt a single leadership structure, i.e. where the
Group Managing Director and the Chairman of the Board is the same person, so as to ensure that the decision making
process of the Group would not be unnecessarily hindered.
The Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards and checks to ensure that the process of decision making by
the Board is independent and based on collective decisions without any individual exercising any considerable concentration
of power or influence. Further, all the Board committees are chaired by independent Directors.
The Group’s Executive Chairman and Group Managing Director is Mr Yeo Hock Leng, who is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group, as well as monitoring the quality, quantity and timeliness of information flow between the Board
and the management. Mr Yeo is the founder of the Group and has played a key role in developing the Group’s business.
Through the Group’s successful development in these few years, Mr Yeo has demonstrated his vision, strong leadership
and enthusiasm in this business.
For good corporate governance, the Board has appointed Mr Sim Beng Chye as the Lead Independent Director of the
Company. Mr Sim is made available to shareholders in cases where their concerns are not satisfactorily resolved by contact
through the normal channels of the Group Managing Director and Deputy Group Managing Director or in cases where such
contact is inappropriate. Mr Sim is contactable via email at bengchye@singnet.com.sg.

Board Committees
Nominating Committee (“NC”)
Principle 4: Board Membership
Principle 5: Board Performance
The current NC comprises the following 3 members, the majority of whom, including the Chairman, are independent:
(a)

Mr Sim Beng Chye (Chairman);

(b)

Mr Chong Yee Siew Sebastian; and

(c)

Mr Teo Yi-Dar

The Board has approved the written terms of reference of the NC. Its functions include :(a)

reviewing and recommending candidates for appointment to the Board;

(b)

reviewing candidates nominated for appointment as senior management staff;

(c)

reviewing and recommending to the Board on an annual basis, the Board structure, size and composition, taking
into account the balance between executive and non-executive, independent and non-independent Directors and
having regard at all times to the principles of corporate governance and the Code;

(d)

procuring that at least one-third of the Board shall comprise independent Directors;

(e)

making recommendations to the Board on continuation of service of any Director who has reached the age of 70;

(f)

identifying and making recommendations to the Board as to the Directors who are to retire by rotation and to be
put forward for re-election at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company, having regard to the Directors’
contribution and performance, including independent Directors;

(g)

determining whether a Director is independent (taking into account the circumstances set out in the Code and other
salient factors); and

(h)

proposing a set of objective performance criteria to the Board for approval and implementation, to evaluate the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each Director to the effectiveness of the Board.
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Where a vacancy arises under any circumstances, or where it is considered that the Board would benefit from the services
of a new director with particular skills, the NC, in consultation with the Board, determines the selection criteria and selects
candidates with the appropriate expertise and experience for the position.
The NC has adopted a formal process for the evaluation of the performance of the Board as a whole. The performance
criteria for the Board includes an evaluation of the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s access to information,
accountability, Board processes and Board performance in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities in terms of the
financial indicators as set out in the Code.
The assessment process involves and includes input from the Board members, applying the performance criteria
recommended by the NC and approved by the Board. The Directors’ input are collated by the Company Secretary and
reviewed by the Chairman of the NC, who presents a summary of the overall assessment to the NC for review. Areas where
the Board’s performance and effectiveness could be enhanced and recommendations for improvement are then submitted
to the Board for discussion and for implementation.
There was no formal assessment of the Board’s performance for FY 2007 as the Committee was only constituted on 24
September 2007. The NC will initiate a performance evaluation to assess the effectiveness of the Board as whole in the
current financial year.
All Directors are subject to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association whereby one-third of the Directors for the
time being are required to retire and subject themselves to re-election by shareholders at every AGM. A newly appointed
Director must retire and submit himself for re-election at the AGM immediately following his appointment and, thereafter, be
subjected to the one-third rotation rule.
Mr Yeo Hock Leng, Mr Sim Beng Chye, Mr Chong Yee Siew Sebastian and Mr Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim Chye Huat, will
be subject to retirement pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association at the forthcoming AGM. The NC recommended
that they be nominated for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.
In making the recommendation, the NC had considered the Directors’ overall contribution and performance.
Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of the assessment of his performance or renomination as Director.

Remuneration Committee (“RC”)
Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration
The current RC comprises the following 3 members, all non-executive, the majority of whom, including the Chairman, are
independent:
(a)

Mr Sim Beng Chye (Chairman);

(b)

Mr Chong Yee Siew Sebastian; and

(c)

Mr Teo Yi-Dar

The Board has approved the written terms of reference of the RC. Its functions include:(a)

recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives of the Group (as
required by law and/or the Code) covering all aspects of remuneration such as Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind;

(b)

proposing to the Board appropriate and meaningful measures for assessing the executive Directors’ performance;

(c)

considering the eligibility of Directors for benefits under long-term incentive schemes; and

(d)

administering the Employees’ Share Reward Scheme (which was established on 25 September 2007) and the
Dynamic Colours Employee Share Option Scheme (which was approved by shareholders of the Company on 26
September 2007).
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In carrying out the above, the RC may obtain independent external legal and other professional advice as it deems
necessary. The expenses of such advice shall be borne by the Company.
The Company sets remuneration packages which:
(a)

align interests of executive directors with those of shareholders;

(b)

link rewards to corporate and individual performance; and

(c)

are competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate Directors and senior management with adequate
experience and expertise to manage the business and operations of the Group.

The remuneration paid and payable to the Directors and executive officers for services rendered during the financial year
ended 31 December 2007 are as follows:

Remuneration Bands

Salary
%

Performance
Bonus
%

Directors’
fees
%

Others
%

Total
%

60.9
66.0

34.0
27.0

–
–

5.1
7.0

100.0
100.0

–
–
–

–
–
–

100.0
100.0
100.0

–
–
–

100.0
100.0
100.0

Salary
%

Performance
Bonus
%

Others
%

Total
%

64.4

28.1

7.5

100.0

85.6
90.2
77.9

8.4
7.5
13.3

6.0
2.3
8.8

100.0
100.0
100.0

Directors
S$250,000 – S$500,000
Yeo Hock Leng
Goh Seok Eng
Below S$250,000
Sim Beng Chye
Chong Yee Siew Sabastian
Teo Yi-Dar

Remuneration Bands
Executive Officers
S$250,000 – S$500,000
Law Cheong Yan
Below S$250,000
Tan Soon Lim
Lee Kok Chong @ Lee Kok Keong
Lee Wai Yin

No Director is involved in determining his own remuneration. The remuneration of the non-executive and independent
Directors is in the form of a fixed fee. The remuneration of the non-executive and independent Directors will be subject to
approval at the AGM.
All Executive Directors have service agreements with the Company. Their compensation packages consist of salary, bonus
and annual profit sharing incentive bonus that is dependent on the Group’s performance.
The Company does not have any employees who are immediate family members of a Director.
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The Company has a share option scheme known as Dynamic Colours Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”)
which was approved by shareholders of the Company on 26 September 2007. The Scheme complies with the relevant
rules as set out in Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual. The Scheme will provide eligible participants with an opportunity to
participate in the equity of the Company and to motivate them towards better performance through increased dedication
and loyalty. The Scheme is administered by the RC. Further information on the Scheme can be found on page 26 of the
Annual Report.
The Company has on 25 September 2007 implemented an Employee Share Reward Scheme (“ESRS”) jointly with ESRS
Grantors. The objective of ESRS is to recognise and reward employees who have contributed to the Group’s success. An
aggregate of 5,236,970 shares (“Reward Shares”) of the Company have been transferred by the ESRS Grantors to the
Trustee, Stellar Woods Limited, and are available for distribution to the eligible employees. The ESRS is administered by the
RC. As at the date of this Annual Report, none of the Reward Shares have been distributed to the eligible employees.

Audit Committee (“AC”)
Principle 11: Audit Committee
The current AC comprises the following 3 members, all non-executive, the majority of whom, including the Chairman, are
independent:
(a)

Mr Chong Yee Siew Sebastian (Chairman);

(b)

Mr Sim Beng Chye; and

(c)

Mr Teo Yi-Dar

The Board has approved the written terms of reference of the AC. Its functions include :(a)

reviewing and evaluating financial and operating results and accounting policies;

(b)

reviewing audit plan of external auditors, their evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls and their audit
report;

(c)

reviewing the overall internal control and risk management system;

(d)

reviewing the Group’s financial results and the announcements before submission to the Board for approval;

(e)

reviewing the assistance given by the management to external auditors;

(f)

considering the appointment/ re-appointment of external auditors;

(g)

reviewing interested person transactions; and

(h)

other functions as required by law or the Code.

The AC meets regularly and also holds informal meetings and discussions with the management from time to time. The
AC has been given full access to and is provided with the cooperation of the Company’s management, and has full
discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meeting. In addition, the AC has independent access to the
external auditors. As at the date of this Annual Report, the AC had met the external auditors once without the presence of
management to review matters that might be raised privately. The AC has reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.
The AC has reviewed the volume of non-audit services to the Group by the external auditors, and being satisfied that the
nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors, is pleased to
recommend their re-appointment.
The AC has established and put in place a whistle-blowing policy and procedures to provide employees with well-defined
and accessible channels within the Group for reporting suspected fraud, corruption, dishonest practices or similar matters,
or raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other matters. The AC will ensure that
arrangements are in place for the independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action.
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Principle 12: Internal Controls
The Group’s internal controls and systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance to the integrity
and reliability of the financial information and to safeguard and maintain the accountability of the assets.
The Board believes that, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the system of internal controls maintained by the
Group’s management and that was in place throughout the year and up to the date of this Report, is adequate to meet the
needs of the Group in its current business environment.

Principle 13: Internal Audit
The internal audit function has been outsourced to Messrs UHY Lee Seng Chan & Co. on 18 March 2008. The internal
audit function reports directly to the AC on audit matters and to the Executive Chairman and Group Managing Director on
administrative matters.
The objective of the internal audit function is to provide independent and reasonable assurance to the AC and management
that the Group’s risk management, controls and governance processes are adequate and effective.
The AC has reviewed with the newly appointed internal auditor their audit plans and will be reviewing their evaluation of the
system of internal controls, their audit findings and management’s responses to those findings; the effectiveness of material
internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and overall risk management of the Company
and the Group. The AC is satisfied that the internal audit is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Group.

Communication with Shareholders
Principle 10: Accountability and Audit
Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders
Principle 15: Greater Shareholder Participation
The Board is accountable to shareholders and the management is accountable to the Board. The Company recognises that
effective communication can highlight transparency and enhance accountability to its shareholders. The Company provides
information to its shareholders via SGXNET announcements, news releases and the Company’s website. Price-sensitive
information is publicly released on an immediate basis where required under the Listing Manual. Where an immediate
announcement is not possible, the announcement is made as soon as possible to ensure that shareholders and the public
have a fair access to the information.
The AGM of the Company is a principal forum for dialogue and interaction with all shareholders. All shareholders will receive
the Annual Report and the notice of AGM. At the AGM, shareholders will be given the opportunity to voice their views and
to direct questions regarding the Group to the Directors including the chairpersons of each of the Board committees. The
external auditors are also present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries from the shareholders.
The Company ensures that there are separate resolutions at general meetings on each distinct issue.
The Company’s Articles of Association allow a member of the Company to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote at
general meetings.

Risk Management
(Listing Manual Rule 1207(4)(b)(iv)
The management regularly reviews the Company’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business
risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The management reviews all significant control
policies and procedures and highlights all significant matters to the Directors and the AC. The details and the Group’s
financial and business risks can be found on pages 55 to 58 of the Annual Report.
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Securities Transactions
(Listing Manual Rule 1207(18))
In line with Rule 1207(18) of the Listing Manual, the Group has adopted a policy with respect to dealings in securities by
the Directors and executive officers of the Group. Directors, management and officers of the Group who have access to
price-sensitive, financial or confidential information are not permitted to deal in the Company’s shares during the periods
commencing one month before the announcement of the Group’s annual or half-yearly results and ending on the date of
announcement of the relevant results, or when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information on the
Group. To provide further guidance to employees on dealings in the Company’s shares, the Company has adopted a code
of conduct on transactions in the Company’s shares. The code of conduct is modeled after the SGX’s best practices with
respect to dealings in securities by the Directors and officers of the Group.

Material Contracts
(Listing Manual Rule 1207(8))
Save for the service agreements between the Company and the Executive Directors, there were no material contracts of
the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interest of any Director or controlling shareholders subsisting at the end of the
financial year ended 31 December 2007.

Interested Person Transactions
(Listing Manual Rule 907)
The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported on a timely
manner to the AC and that the transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the
interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.
The Group confirms that there were no interested person transactions during the financial year under review.

Utilisation of IPO Proceeds
As at 19 March 2008, the total net proceeds of S$ 12.0 million ( after deducting the IPO expenses of S$ 1.8 million, as
disclosed on page 49 of the Company’s prospectus dated 15 November 2007) from the IPO were used for the following
purposes : -

S$ million
Resin compounding business
- Construction of an integrated warehouse and factory, purchase of new equipment and upgrade
of production facilities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
- Purchase of new equipment and establishment of a production facility in the Socialist Republic
of Vietnam

1.1

Polyethylene packaging business in Singapore and in the PRC
- Acquisition and upgrading of machinery and equipment

0.4

Repayment of bank loan

2.0

General working capital

4.0
7.5

The balance proceeds of S$4.5 million which have not been deployed for the intended use as stated in the page 45 of the
Company’s Prospectus have been used for general working capital purposes.
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The directors are pleased to present their report to the members of the Company together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2007.

Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows:
Yeo Hock Leng
Goh Seok Eng
Teo Yi-Dar
Sim Beng Chye
Chong Yee Siew Sebastian
Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim Chye Huat

(Appointed
(Appointed
(Appointed
(Appointed

on
on
on
on

26 March 2007)
24 September 2007)
24 September 2007)
1 March 2008)

Admission of the Company to the Official List of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
The Company was converted into a public limited company on 3 October 2007 and changed its name from Dynamic
Colours Pte Ltd to Dynamic Colours Limited.
The Company’s shares were listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”) on 23 November 2007.

Directors’ interests
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore
Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year
(including those held by their spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures and share options in the Company and in
related corporations are as follows:
Holdings at beginning of the
year/date of appointment1
Name of director and corporation
in which interest are held
Dynamic Colours Limited
Ordinary shares
Yeo Hock Leng
Goh Seok Eng
Sim Beng Chye
Chong Yee Siew Sebastian

Holdings at end of the year

Direct
interest

Deemed
interest

Direct
interest

Deemed
interest

19,026,260
18,011,620
–
–

5,236,970
–
–
–

17,976,260
18,011,620
100,000
100,000

5,236,970
–
–
–

1 For comparative purposes, the holdings at beginning of the year/date of appointment is on the assumption that the capital of the
Company has been subdivided into 10 ordinary shares for every one share at the beginning of the year.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares,
debentures or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, or date
of appointment if later, or at the end of the financial year.
There are no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 21
January 2008.
Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects
are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Except for salaries, bonuses and fees and those benefits that are disclosed in this report and in notes 17 and 23 to the
financial statements, since the end of the last financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit
by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which he is a
member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

Share options
During the financial year, there were:
(i)

no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued shares in the Company or
its subsidiaries; and

(ii)

no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under option.

Audit Committee
The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this report are:
z

Chong Yee Siew Sebastian, (Chairman), non-executive director

z

Sim Beng Chye, non-executive director

z

Teo Yi-Dar, non-executive director

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the SGX Listing Manual and the Code of
Corporate Governance.
The Audit Committee has held two meetings since the last directors’ report. In performing its functions, the Audit
Committee met with the Company’s external auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their examination
and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.
The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:
z

assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the external auditors;

z

appointment of internal auditors by the Company;

z

annual financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to the submission to the directors of the Company
for adoption; and

z

interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It
has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee
also recommends the appointment of the external auditor and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.
The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to
the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting of the Company.
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Auditors
The auditors, KPMG, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Yeo Hock Leng
Director

Teo Yi-Dar
Director

Singapore
19 March 2008
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In our opinion:
(a)

the financial statements set out on pages 30 to 61 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2007 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows
of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards; and

(b)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Yeo Hock Leng
Director

Teo Yi-Dar
Director

Singapore
19 March 2008

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of Dynamic Colours Limited
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Dynamic Colours Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheet of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2007, the income
statement, the statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 30 to 61.
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes:
(a)

devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and
balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets;

(b)

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

(c)

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up in
accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2007 and the results, changes in equity
and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date; and

(b)

the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by the subsidiary incorporated
in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
19 March 2008

BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 December 2007
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Group

Company

Note

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

3
4
5
6

8,403,339
791,450
–
–

7,502,129
483,888
6,955
–

1,897
–
–
12,145,467

3,441
–
–
7,795,327

9,194,789

7,992,972

12,147,364

7,798,768

8,126,114
27,726,150
–
7,216,541

5,886,272
18,528,770
4,720
4,480,233

19,250
23,679,493
–
1,804,454

52,000
12,487,897
4,720
128,025

43,068,805

28,899,995

25,503,197

12,672,642

52,263,594

36,892,967

37,650,561

20,471,410

18,822,247
1,599,984
8,346,769

10,485,857
1,055,143
5,816,874

18,822,247
–
6,026,663

10,485,857
–
2,007,006

28,769,000

17,357,874

24,848,910

12,492,863

1,625,374
515,409
27,400

2,354,796
586,462
71,551

–
–
27,400

–
–
71,551

2,168,183

3,012,809

27,400

71,551

19,146,474
1,982,991
196,946
–

13,111,227
1,643,578
132,473
1,635,006

12,774,251
–
–
–

5,621,990
650,000
–
1,635,006

21,326,411

16,522,284

12,774,251

7,906,996

Total liabilities

23,494,594

19,535,093

12,801,651

7,978,547

Total equity and liabilities

52,263,594

36,892,967

37,650,561

20,471,410

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Lease prepayments
Intangible asset
Subsidiaries

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Income tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

7
8
9

Total assets
Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company
Share capital
Other reserves
Accumulated profits

10
11

Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other payables

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing liabilities
Current tax payable
Dividends payable

12
13
14

14
12

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note

2007
US$

2006
US$

15

94,692,906

65,028,506

Cost of sales

(87,631,891)

(59,868,813)

Gross profit

7,061,015

5,159,693

Other income

381,995

817,525

Distribution costs

(930,291)

(830,078)

(2,281,914)

(1,820,512)

(263,108)

(340,912)

3,967,697

2,985,716

Finance income

33,505

21,928

Finance expense

(707,252)

(225,806)

Revenue

Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses
Results from operating activities

Net finance costs

16

(673,747)

(203,878)

Profit from operating activities before income tax

17

3,293,950

2,781,838

Income tax expense

18

(485,656)

(159,555)

2,808,294

2,622,283

1.85

1.80

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share (US cents)

19

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note

Share
capital
US$

Share
premium
US$

Currency
translation
reserve
US$

Capital
reserve
US$

General
reserve
US$

Accumulated
profits
US$

Total
equity
US$

7,219,845

290,118

129,852

183,478

686,254

5,019,158

13,528,705

Group
At 1 January 2006
Translation differences relating
to financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries

–

–

49,476

–

–

–

49,476

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

–

2,622,283

2,622,283

Total recognised income for the year

–

–

49,476

–

–

2,622,283

2,671,759

Transfer from accumulated profits

–

–

–

–

189,561

(189,561)

–

2,975,894

–

–

(183,478)

–

–

2,792,416

290,118

(290,118)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(1,635,006)

(1,635,006)

10,485,857

–

179,328

–

875,815

5,816,874

17,357,874

Issue of shares upon conversion
of convertible bond

10

Transfer from share premium
account to share capital upon
implementation of the Companies
(Amendment) Act 2005
One-tier interim dividend of
US$0.11 per share
At 31 December 2006
Translation differences relating
to financial statements of
foreign subsidiaries

–

–

266,442

–

–

–

266,442

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

–

2,808,294

2,808,294

Total recognised income for the year

–

–

266,442

–

–

2,808,294

3,074,736

Transfer from accumulated profits

–

–

–

–

278,399

(278,399)

–

8,336,390

–

–

–

–

–

8,336,390

18,822,247

–

445,770

–

1,154,214

8,346,769

28,769,000

Issue of new shares pursuant to
the initial public offering (i)
At 31 December 2007
(i)

10

Included in share issue expenses are non-audit fees of US$161,380 paid to the Company’s auditor for services rendered as
Reporting Accountants in connection with the initial public offering of the Company’s share.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note

Share
capital
US$

Share
premium
US$

Capital
reserve
US$

Accumulated
profits
US$

Total
equity
US$

7,219,845

290,118

183,478

3,321,666

11,015,107

2,975,894

–

(183,478)

–

2,792,416

Company
At 1 January 2006
Issue of shares upon conversion of
convertible bonds

10

Transfer from share premium account
to share capital upon implementation
of the Companies (Amendment) Act
2005

290,118

(290,118)

–

–

–

Profit for the year/Total recognised
income for the year

–

–

–

320,346

320,346

One-tier interim dividend of US$0.11
per share

–

–

–

(1,635,006)

(1,635,006)

10,485,857

–

–

2,007,006

12,492,863

–

–

–

4,019,657

4,019,657

8,336,390

–

–

–

8,336,390

18,822,247

–

–

6,026,663

24,848,910

At 31 December 2006
Profit for the year/Total recognised
income for the year
Issue of new shares pursuant to
the initial public offering (i)
At 31 December 2007
(i)

10

Included in share issue expenses are non-audit fees of US$161,380 paid to the Company’s auditor for services rendered as
Reporting Accountants in connection with the initial public offering of the Company’s share.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note
Operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of discount on non-current payables
Amortisation of lease prepayments
Amortisation of an intangible asset
Provision for stock obsolescence
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Interest expense
Interest income
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Income tax expense

2007
US$

2006
US$

2,808,294

2,622,283

5,326
8,407
6,955
46,237
948,900
425,188
(33,505)
13,210
485,656

9,110
13,921
13,920
–
945,916
149,099
(21,928)
150,360
159,555

Operating profit before working capital changes
Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Balances with related parties (trade)

4,714,668

4,042,236

(2,286,079)
(9,176,746)
2,013,767
(41,527)

(850,818)
(4,711,273)
1,972,956
8,486

Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Income taxes paid

(4,775,917)
(493,662)

461,587
(105,818)

Cash flows from operating activities

(5,269,579)

355,769

Investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of land use rights
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment

33,505
(1,934,268)
(300,319)
130,693

21,928
(915,865)
(164,329)
54,566

Cash flows from investing activities

(2,070,389)

(1,003,700)

Financing activities
Interest paid
Trust receipts
Proceeds from term loans
Repayment of term loans
Dividends paid
Proceeds from issuance of new shares
Balances with related parties (non-trade)
Decrease in deposits pledged to a bank

(425,188)
3,992,895
6,426,685
(6,863,566)
(1,635,006)
8,336,390
–
–

(149,099)
(791,190)
1,863,997
(502,192)
(147,836)
–
410
322,754

Cash flows from financing activities

9,832,210

596,844

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effects of balances in foreign currencies

2,492,242
4,480,233
244,066

(51,087)
4,516,902
14,418

7,216,541

4,480,233

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

10

9

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2008.

1

Domicile and activities
Dynamic Colours Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and has its registered office
at 55A, Yishun Industrial Park A, SL Building, Singapore 768729. The Company was converted into a public limited
company and changed its name from Dynamic Colours Pte. Ltd. to Dynamic Colours Limited on 3 October 2007.
The Company was admitted to the Official List of the Mainboard of the SGX on 23 November 2007.
The principal activities of the Company are those relating to investment holding and trading in colour pigments. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 6 to the financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”).

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).
Certain significant accounting policies of the overseas subsidiary companies in the Group for the respective periods
are different from those described in these financial statements. Adjustments have been made, for the purpose of
these consolidated financial statements, to restate the assets, liabilities, income and expenses, where necessary, to
conform with the accounting policies as set out below, which are in accordance with FRS.
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.
The financial statements are presented in the United States (“US”) dollars which is the Company’s functional
currency. All the financial information are presented in US dollars, unless otherwise stated.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
Judgements made by management in the application of FRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements
and in arriving at estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the following year are discussed in note
24.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Group. The accounting policies used
by the Group have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.

2.2

Consolidation
Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for under the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
The excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is credited to the income statement in the period of the acquisition.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2

Consolidation (cont’d)
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to align them with the policies
adopted by the Group.
Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
Accounting for subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s balance sheet at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

2.3

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group entities at
the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at reporting date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date on which the fair value was determined.
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement, except for the
differences arising on the retranslation of monetary items that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment
in a foreign operation (see below).
Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to US dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to US dollars at exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate. For acquisitions prior to 1 January 2005, the exchange rates at the date of acquisition were used.
Foreign currency differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is
disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the foreign exchange translation reserve is transferred to the
income statement.
Net investment in foreign operations
Exchange differences arising from monetary items that in substance form part of the Company’s net investment in a
foreign operation are recognised in the Company’s income statement. Such exchange differences are reclassified to
equity in the consolidated financial statements. When the net investment is disposed of, the cumulative amount in
equity is transferred to the income statement as an adjustment to the profit or loss arising on disposal.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2007

Dynamic Colours Limited Annual Report 2007 | 37

2

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a
working condition for its intended use, and the cost of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on
which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised
as part of that equipment.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost
can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in
the income statement as incurred.
No depreciation is provided for assets under construction. Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment is
recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of
property, plant and equipment.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold factory buildings
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
Furniture, fittings and equipment

–
–
–
–

over the remaining period of lease ranging from 17 to 20 years
3 to 10 years
5 years
5 to 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting
date.
2.5

Lease prepayments
Lease prepayments for land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.6

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill and negative goodwill arise on the acquisition of subsidiaries.
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented in intangible assets. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis as described in note 2.9. Negative goodwill is recognised
immediately in the income statement.
Customer contracts
Customer contracts are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 21 months, from the date
on which it is available for use.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7

Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, financial
liabilities, and trade and other payables.
Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through
profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial
instruments are measured as described below.
A financial instrument is recognised if the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire
or if the Group transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade
date, i.e., the date that the Group commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if
the Group’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits.
Other
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method,
less any impairment losses.
Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is
impaired.
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
Impairment losses in respect of financial assets are recognised in the income statement.
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in the income
statement.
Intra-group financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are financial instruments issued by the Group that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for the loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to meet payment when due
in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantees are recognised initially at fair value and are classified as financial liabilities. Subsequent to
initial measurement, the financial guarantees are stated at the higher of the initial fair value less cumulative
amortisation and the amount that would be recognised if they were accounted for as contingent liabilities. When
financial guarantees are terminated before their original expiry date, the carrying amount of the financial guarantees
is transferred to the income statement.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2007

Dynamic Colours Limited Annual Report 2007 | 39

2

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net
of any tax effects.

2.8

Leases
Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payments made under the leases are recognised in
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised
in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to the
income statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

2.9

Impairment – non financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each reporting date
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable
amounts are estimated. For goodwill, recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date, as and when
indicators of impairment are identified.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that
largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of
units) on a pro rata basis.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of their value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or cash-generating unit.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

2.10

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. In the case of
manufactured inventories and work-in-progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based
on normal operating capacity.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.11

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income
statement as incurred.
Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related
service is provided.
A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and
the obligation can be estimated reliably.

2.12

Revenue recognition
Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of
returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated
costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing management involvement
with the goods.
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in the income statement when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.
Interest income
Interest income from bank deposits are accrued on a time-apportioned basis on the principal outstanding and at the
rate applicable.

2.13

Finance income and expenses
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, reversal of impairment losses recognised on financial
assets (other than trade and other receivables) and foreign currency gains that are recognised in the income
statement. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest rate method.
Finance expenses comprise interest expense in borrowings, unwinding of the discount on loans, impairment losses
recognised on financial assets (other than trade and other receivables) and foreign currency impairment that are
recognised in the income statement. All borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the effective
interest rate method, except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for its
intended use or sale.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.14

Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied
to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax liabilities and assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

2.15

Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.
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3

Property, plant and equipment
Leasehold
factory
buildings
US$

Plant and
machinery
US$

Motor
vehicles
US$

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment
US$

Assets
under
construction
US$

Cost
At 1 January 2006
Additions
Disposals / Write-off
Translation differences

5,333,043
30,350
(308,539)
14,223

2,822,445
466,390
(16,349)
32,175

459,488
31,092
(29,621)
6,335

697,021
84,057
(52,334)
10,561

–
303,976
–
–

9,311,997
915,865
(406,843)
63,294

At 31 December 2006
Additions
Disposals / Write-off
Transfer
Translation differences

5,069,077
14,568
–
1,356,046
11,592

3,304,661
547,145
(380,380)
–
62,910

467,294
249,941
(97,735)
–
11,518

739,305
87,714
(28,821)
–
19,889

303,976
1,034,900
–
(1,356,046)
17,170

9,884,313
1,934,268
(506,936)
–
123,079

At 31 December 2007

6,451,283

3,534,336

631,018

818,087

–

11,434,724

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2006
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals / Write-off
Translation differences

296,484
289,833
(129,632)
11,827

791,715
483,051
(13,658)
11,610

221,183
82,926
(26,221)
3,734

296,409
90,106
(32,406)
5,223

–
–
–
–

1,605,791
945,916
(201,917)
32,394

At 31 December 2006
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals / Write-off
Translation differences

468,512
285,429
–
4,286

1,272,718
448,356
(251,016)
37,168

281,622
76,331
(85,760)
7,946

359,332
138,784
(26,257)
13,934

–
–
–
–

2,382,184
948,900
(363,033)
63,334

At 31 December 2007

758,227

1,507,226

280,139

485,793

–

3,031,385

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2005

5,036,559

2,030,730

238,305

400,612

–

7,706,206

At 31 December 2006

4,600,565

2,031,943

185,672

379,973

303,976

7,502,129

At 31 December 2007

5,693,056

2,027,110

350,879

332,294

–

8,403,339

Total
US$

Group
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Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Leasehold
building
US$

Furniture,
fitting and
equipment
US$

Total
US$

18,133
–
(18,133)

9,846
2,969
(8,183)

27,979
2,969
(26,316)

–

4,632

4,632

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2006
Depreciation charge of the year
Disposals

2,418
221
(2,639)

8,736
637
(8,182)

11,154
858
(10,821)

At 31 December 2006
Depreciation charge of the year

–
–

1,191
1,544

1,191
1,544

At 31 December 2007

–

2,735

2,735

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2005

15,715

1,110

16,825

At 31 December 2006

–

3,441

3,441

At 31 December 2007

–

1,897

1,897

Company
Cost
At 1 January 2006
Additions
Disposals
At 31 December 2006 and 2007

Security
Certain property, plant and equipment were pledged to secure bank loans (note 12) and bills payables (note 14)
granted to subsidiaries. The carrying amounts of the pledged assets are as follows:
Group

Leasehold factory buildings

2007
US$

2006
US$

5,693,057

4,767,147

The depreciation charge for the Group is recognised in the following line items of the income statement:
Group

Cost of sales
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses

2007
US$

2006
US$

814,420
14,367
120,113

831,709
13,452
100,755

948,900

945,916
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Lease prepayments – Group
US$
Cost
At 1 January 2006
Additions
Translation differences

375,673
164,329
4,961

At 31 December 2006
Additions
Translation differences

544,963
300,319
17,867

At 31 December 2007

863,149

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2006
Amortisation charge for the year
Translation differences

46,352
13,921
802

At 31 December 2006
Amortisation charge for the year
Translation differences

61,075
8,407
2,217

At 31 December 2007

71,699

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2005

329,321

At 31 December 2006

483,888

At 31 December 2007

791,450

Lease prepayments represent the land use rights held by companies in the Group situated in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”). At 31 December 2007, the remaining period of the land use rights is between 38 to 44 years.
None of the leases include contingent rentals.
In the current financial year, certain land use rights with a carrying amount of US$332,877 (2006: US$334,093) were
pledged to secure bank loans (note 12) granted to a subsidiary and bills payables granted to a subsidiary (note 14).
There are no rules or guidelines under the existing rules and regulations in the PRC as to the responsibility of
restoration upon expiry of land use rights. There is no reliable estimation to the cost of restoration and the
expenditure is not probable.

5

Intangible asset – Group
Customer contracts
US$
At 1 January 2006
Amortisation charge for the year

20,875
(13,920)

At 31 December 2006
Amortisation charge for the year

6,955
(6,955)

At 31 December 2007

–
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Subsidiaries – Company

Investment in subsidiaries

2007
US$

2006
US$

12,145,467

7,795,327

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

7

Effective
equity held by the
Company

Place of
incorporation

Principal activities

2007
%

2006
%

1

S.L. Packaging Industries
Pte Ltd

Manufacture and sale of
polyethylene packaging materials

Singapore

100

100

2

Suzhou Huiye Chemical
& Light Industry Co., Ltd.

Manufacture and sale of
compounded resins and provision
of compounding services

PRC

100

100

2

Suzhou Huiye Plastic
Industry Co., Ltd.

Manufacture and sale of
compounded resins and provision
of compounding services

PRC

100

100

2

Suzhou S.L. Packaging
Co., Ltd.

Dormant

PRC

100

100

2

DC (Suzhou) Polymer
Co., Ltd

Dormant

PRC

100

–

Huiye (Vietnam) Plastic
Co., Ltd

Dormant

Vietnam

100

–

1

Audited by KPMG Singapore.

2

Audited by Jiangsu Gong Zheng Certified Public Accountants (江苏公正会计师事务所有限公司). Audited by KPMG Singapore
for consolidation purposes.

Inventories
Group

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

Company

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

6,368,429
153,945
1,603,740

4,319,347
172,545
1,394,380

19,250
–
–

52,000
–
–

8,126,114

5,886,272

19,250

52,000
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Trade and other receivables
Group

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Deposits
Prepayment
Trade amounts due from a related party
Trade amounts due from subsidiaries
Non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries

Company

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

26,700,334
255,193
696,076
12,386
62,161
–
–

18,214,452
18,033
238,991
36,660
20,634
–
–

55,778
–
74,601
2,647
–
22,246,482
1,299,985

9,655
–
102,328
1,447
–
10,881,447
1,493,020

27,726,150

18,528,770

23,679,493

12,487,897

Trade receivables due from third parties are denominated in the following currencies:
Group

United States dollars
Chinese Renminbi
Singapore dollars

Company

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

24,222,866
2,345,542
131,926

16,117,082
1,955,428
141,942

–
–
55,778

9,655
–
–

26,700,334

18,214,452

55,778

9,655

The amounts due from related parties and subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
There is no allowance for doubtful debts arising from the outstanding balances.
Concentration of credit risk relating to trade receivables is limited due to the Group’s many varied customers.
These customers are mainly dispersed in China and Singapore, engage in a wide spectrum of manufacturing and
distribution activities, and sell in a variety of end markets. The Group’s historical experience in the collection of trade
receivables falls within the credit period granted. Due to these factors, management believes that no additional
credit risk is inherent in the Group’s trade receivables.
The Group’s significant customers accounts for 50% (2006: 32%) of the trade receivables amount as at 31
December 2007.
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables due from third parties (by geographical location) at the
reporting date are:
Group

China
Singapore

Company

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

25,118,688
1,581,646

17,103,075
1,111,377

–
55,778

–
9,655

26,700,334

18,214,452

55,778

9,655

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2007

Dynamic Colours Limited Annual Report 2007 | 47

8

Trade and other receivables (cont’d)
Impairment losses
The ageing of trade receivables due from third parties at the reporting date are as follows:

Gross
2007
US$

Impairment
losses
2006
US$

Gross
2006
US$

Impairment
losses
2006
US$

24,008,711
2,358,285
333,338

–
–
–

16,215,788
1,271,694
726,970

–
–
–

26,700,334

–

18,214,452

–

55,778

–

9,655

–

Group
Not past due
Past due 0 – 30 days
Past due 31 – 120 days

Company
Not past due

The Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due or past
due up to 120 days. These receivables are mainly arising by customers that have a good record with the Group.

9

Cash and cash equivalents
Group

Company

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

Cash at bank and in hand
Fixed deposit with banks

7,026,541
190,000

4,451,591
28,642

1,804,454
–

128,025
–

Cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of cash flows

7,216,541

4,480,233

1,804,454

128,025

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:
Group

United States dollars
Chinese Renminbi
Singapore dollars

Company

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

3,074,026
3,457,097
685,418

1,617,870
2,695,457
166,906

1,230,207
–
574,247

55,455
–
72,570

7,216,541

4,480,233

1,804,454

128,025
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Cash and cash equivalents (cont’d)
The weighted average effective interest rates per annum for cash and cash equivalents of major currencies at the
reporting date are as follows:
Group
2006
%

2007
%

2006
%

4.6
1.3

4.6
–

4.7
1.3

–
–

United States dollars
Singapore dollars

10

Company

2007
%

Share capital – Company
2007
No. of
shares

S$

14,547,131

2006
US$

No. of
shares

S$

US$

17,439,139

10,485,857

12,001,383

12,001,383

7,219,845

–

–

–

2,545,748

4,937,756

2,975,894

–
130,924,179

–
–

–
–

–
–

500,000
–

290,118
–

64,500,000

12,038,079

8,336,390

–

–

–

209,971,310

29,477,218

18,822,247

14,547,131

17,439,139

10,485,857

Fully paid ordinary shares,
with no par value:
At 1 January
Issue of new shares upon
conversion of convertible
loan (a)
Transfer from share premium
account
Subdivision of shares (b)
Issue of new shares pursuant
to the initial public offering (c)
At 31 December
(a)

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 1 January 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved the
issue and allotment of new ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company to the bondholders, upon
the conversion of the convertible bonds of an aggregate principal amount of S$4,600,000 (US$2,975,894).
Pursuant to the notices of conversion given by the Company to each of the bondholder, the convertible
bonds were fully converted into 2,545,748 new fully paid ordinary shares of the Company.

(b)

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 26 September 2007, the shareholders approved that the capital
of the Company be sub-divided into 10 ordinary shares for every one share in the capital of the Company
(“Share Sub-Division”).

(c)

On 22 November 2007, the Company allocated and issued 64,500,000 ordinary shares at S$0.215 each
pursuant to the initial public offering of the Company. The newly issued shares rank parri passu in all
respects with the previously issued shares.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the
Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity.
The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The Group achieved a return
on shareholders’ equity of 12.2% in 2007 compared to 17% in 2006. In comparison the weighted average interest
expense on interest-bearing borrowings (excluding liabilities with imputed interest) was 6.38% (2006: 6.17%) per
annum.
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. The Company and its
subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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Other reserves – Group
2007
US$
Currency translation reserve
General reserve

2006
US$

445,770
1,154,214

179,328
875,815

1,599,984

1,055,143

Currency translation reserve
The currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the subsidiaries whose functional currencies are different from the functional currency of the
Company.
General reserve
The subsidiaries of the Group in the People’s Republic of China follow the accounting principles and relevant financial
regulations of the People’s Republic of China (PRC GAAP) applicable to wholly-owned foreign investment enterprises
in the preparation of the accounting records and statutory financial statements.
The wholly-owned subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the profit after tax in accordance with PRC GAAP
for each year to the general reserve.
The profit after tax must be set-off against any accumulated losses sustained by the subsidiaries in prior years,
before allocation is made to the general reserve. Appropriation to the general reserve must be made before
distribution of dividends to shareholders. The appropriation is required until the general reserve reaches 50% of the
registered capital. This general reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends. The general reserves may
be used to set-off losses or to be converted into paid-in-capital.

12

Interest-bearing liabilities
Group

Company

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

Non-current
Secured term loans

1,625,374

2,354,796

–

–

Current
Secured term loans
Unsecured term loan
Revolving credit facility

1,332,991
–
650,000

609,391
384,187
650,000

–
–
–

–
–
650,000

1,982,991

1,643,578

–

650,000

3,608,365

3,998,374

–

650,000
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Interest-bearing liabilities (cont’d)
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

Group
Secured term loans – S$
floating rate
Secured term loans – RMB
fixed rate
Unsecured term loan – RMB
fixed rate
Unsecured revolving credit
facility – US$ floating rate

2007
Carrying
amount
US$

Face
value
US$

2006
Carrying
amount
US$

Nominal
interest rate

Year of
maturity

Face
value
US$

2.75% – 4.35%

2013

2,754,821

1,946,807

2,605,015

2,134,377

5.83%

2008

1,011,558

1,011,558

829,810

829,810

5.80%

2008

–

–

–

384,187

5.83% – 6.89%

2008

650,000

650,000

650,000

650,000

4,416,379

3,608,365

4,469,012

3,998,374

The term loans are secured on the following assets:
Group

Property, plant and equipment
Land use rights

Company

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

4,769,499
131,050

4,767,147
334,093

–
–

–
–

4,900,549

5,101,240

–

–

Intra-group guarantees
Intra-group financial guarantees comprise unsecured guarantees granted by the Company to banks in respect of
banking facilities amounting to US$1,661,558 (2006: US$2,964,187) granted to the subsidiaries. The periods in
which the financial guarantees expire are as follows:
Company

Less than 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years

2007
US$

2006
US$

1,661,558
–

609,391
2,354,796

1,661,558

2,964,187
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Deferred tax liabilities

Group
Property, plant and equipment
Convertible bonds

Company
Convertible bonds

At 1
January
2006
US$

Recognised
in income
statement
(Note 18)
US$

At 31
December
2006
US$

Recognised
in income
statement
(Note 18)
US$

At 31
December
2007
US$

645,195
11,478

(58,733)
(11,478)

586,462
–

(71,053)
–

515,409
–

656,673

(70,211)

586,462

(71,053)

515,409

11,478

(11,478)

–

–

–

Unrecognised deferred tax asset
The following temporary difference has not been recognised in respect of the following items:
Group

Tax losses and capital allowances

2007
US$

2006
US$

180,780

247,320

The unabsorbed tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax authority and compliance with the tax regulations in
which the Company operates. Tax losses of the Company do not expire under the current tax regulations. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised as it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
Company can utilise the benefits.

14

Trade and other payables
Group
2007
US$
Non-current
Other payables
Current
Trade payables
Bills payable
Trust receipts
Other payables
Accrued operating expenses
Non-trade amounts due to a related party
Non-trade amounts due to subsidiaries

Company
2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

27,400

71,551

27,400

71,551

3,269,272
8,255,377
5,338,660
1,648,921
634,244
–
–

6,807,429
3,801,918
1,345,765
167,191
988,514
410
–

405,318
4,989,577
5,338,660
837,702
354,208
–
848,786

29,340
3,801,918
1,345,765
151,913
221,054
–
72,000

19,146,474

13,111,227

12,774,251

5,621,990
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Trade and other payables (cont’d)
Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:
Group

United States dollars
Chinese Renminbi
Singapore dollars

Company

2007
US$

2006
US$

2007
US$

2006
US$

2,185,595
948,403
135,274

6,076,832
646,012
84,585

405,318
–
–

29,340
–
–

3,269,272

6,807,429

405,318

29,340

Bills payable of the Group are secured by property, plant and equipment amounting to US$923,558 (note 3) and
land use rights amounting to US$201,827 (note 4) of a subsidiary, guaranteed by certain directors and a subsidiary.
Bills payable of the Company are guaranteed by certain directors and a subsidiary.
The above trust receipts are guaranteed by certain directors and a subsidiary.
The non-trade amounts due to a related party are unsecured, interest-free and is repayable on demand.

15

Revenue
Revenue of the Group comprises invoiced value of goods sold after allowances for goods returned and discounts.
All intra-company transactions have been eliminated in arriving at the Group’s revenue.

16

Finance income and expense – Group
2007
US$

2006
US$

Interest income from bank deposits

33,505

21,928

Finance income

33,505

21,928

– term loans
– trust receipts

(169,361)
(247,911)

(70,048)
(79,051)

Foreign exchange loss
Imputed interest in other payables

(417,272)
(284,654)
(5,326)

(149,099)
(67,597)
(9,110)

Finance expense

(707,252)

(225,806)

Net finance cost

(673,747)

(203,878)

Interest paid on:
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Profit from operating activities before income tax - Group
The following items have been included in arriving at profit from operating activities before income tax:

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
Provision for stocks obsolescence
Operating lease expense
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Staff costs
Contributions to defined contribution plan included in staff costs

2007
US$

2006
US$

83,296,766
46,237
69,027
13,210
2,644,515
391,517

56,625,325
–
65,565
150,360
2,318,477
236,242

Pursuant to the relevant labour regulations of PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group participate in a defined
contribution retirement plan organised by the Suzhou Social Insurance Bureau (苏州吴中经济开发区管理委会劳动
人事局). The PRC subsidiaries are required to make contributions to the retirement plan at the rate of 20% of the
eligible employees’ salaries. The Suzhou Social Insurance Bureau is responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to the retired employees.

18

Income tax expense – Group

Current tax expenses
Current year
Under provision in respect of prior years
Deferred tax income
Movements in temporary differences
Effect of changes in tax rates

Reconciliation of effective tax expense
Profit from operating activities before income tax
Income tax using PRC tax rate at 24% (2006: 24%)
Effect of different tax rates in different jurisdiction
Effect of changes in tax rates
Non-deductible expenses
Non-taxable income
Tax concession
Income not subject to tax
Deferred tax assets not recognised
Under provision of current taxation in respect of prior years
Others

2007
US$

2006
US$

579,707
(22,998)

229,766
–

556,709

229,766

(45,767)
(25,286)

(70,211)
–

(71,053)

(70,211)

485,656

159,555

3,293,950

2,781,838

790,548
(1,723)
(25,286)
27,680
(1,427)
(332,393)
(24,364)
32,540
(22,998)
43,079

667,641
20,199
–
329
(14,673)
(527,032)
(72,711)
23,321
–
62,481

485,656

159,555

A subsidiary is entitled to tax concessions whereby the profit of the first two financial years beginning with the first
profit making year (after setting off tax losses carried forward for the past years’ losses) is exempted from income
tax in the PRC and the profit of the subsequent three financial years is taxed at 50% of the rate applicable. The first
profit making year for the subsidiary is 2005.
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Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of US$2,622,283 and
US$2,808,294 for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 applied to the weighted average
number of shares as follows:
2007
Ordinary shares at the beginning of the year
Issue of new shares upon conversion of convertible loan
After share subdivision on 26 September 2007
Issue of new ordinary shares during the year

2006

14,547,131

12,001,383

–
145,471,310
6,715,068

2,545,748
–
–

152,186,378

14,547,131

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share as the Company does not have any dilutive
potential ordinary shares.

20

Segment reporting
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. The primary
format, business segment, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.
Inter-segment pricing is determined on mutually agreed terms.
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items mainly comprise loans and expenses, interest income, interest
expenses and related assets and liabilities.
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment,
and intangible assets other than goodwill.
Business segments
The Group has the following main business segments:
Resin compounding: Manufacture and sale of compounded resins and provision of compounding services.
Polyethylene packaging: Manufacture and sale of polyethylene packaging materials.
Geographical segments
In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical
location of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.
Business segments
Resin Compounding
2007
2006
US$’000
US$’000

Polyethylene Packaging
2007
2006
US$’000
US$’000

Consolidated
2007
2006
US$’000
US$’000

Segment revenue

81,176

52,342

13,517

12,687

94,693

65,029

Segment results

3,551

2,742

417

244

3,968

2,986

(674)
(486)

(204)
(160)

2,808

2,622

Net finance costs
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
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Segment reporting (cont’d)
Business segments (cont’d)
Resin Compounding
2007
2006
US$’000
US$’000
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Other segment
information
Capital expenditure
Depreciation
Amortisation

44,138

14,958

1,929
429
8

28,698

10,346

499
404
14

Polyethylene Packaging
2007
2006
US$’000
US$’000

7,162

1,905

7,912

1,609

Consolidated
2007
2006
US$’000
US$’000

51,300
964

36,610
283

52,264

36,893

16,863
6,631

11,955
7,580

23,494

19,535

916
946
14

5
520
–

417
542
–

1,934
949
8

Singapore
US$’000

China
US$’000

Others
US$’000

Consolidated
US$’000

Year ended 31 December 2007
Segment revenue

9,007

81,136

4,550

94,963

Segment assets

9,132

43,132

–

52,264

5

1,929

–

1,934

Year ended 31 December 2006
Segment revenue

8,307

52,341

4,381

65,029

Segment assets

7,907

28,703

–

36,610

420

496

–

916

Geographical segments

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure

21

Financial instruments
Overview
Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Group has a system of controls in place
to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The
management continually monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance
between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.
The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies
and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the
Group.
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Financial instruments (cont’d)
Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a counterparty to settle its
financial and contractual obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due. Credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit limit over a certain amount. If the customers are independently rated, these ratings are
used. Otherwise, the credit quality of customers is assessed after taking into accounts its financial position and past
experience with the customers.
The Group has established a system of internal control to ensure that all customers are with acceptable credit
history. Credit estimates and balances are monitored on an on-going basis. Cash and fixed deposits are placed
with banks which are regulated.
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
In addition, the Group maintains revolving credit facilities with various banks that can be drawn down to meet shortterm financing needs.
The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the reporting date of the Group’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates for fixed rate instruments) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Carrying
amount
US$

Total
undiscounted
cash flows
US$

Within
1 year or on
demand
US$

Within
1 to 5
years
US$

After
5 years
US$

2,596,807
1,011,558
19,173,874

2,872,315
1,109,318
19,227,998

1,058,217
1,109,318
19,200,598

1,610,036
–
27,400

204,062
–
–

22,782,239

23,209,631

21,368,133

1,637,436

204,062

12,801,651

12,855,775

12,828,375

27,400

–

As at 31 December 2007
Group
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Floating interest rate loans
Fixed interest rate loans
Trade and other payables

Company
Trade and other payables
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Financial instruments (cont’d)
Liquidity risk (cont’d)

As at 31 December 2006
Group
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Floating interest rate loans
Fixed interest rate loans
Trade and other payables

Company
Floating interest rate loan
Trade and other payables

Carrying
amount
US$

Total
undiscounted
cash flows
US$

Within
1 year or on
demand
US$

Within
1 to 5
years
US$

After
5 years
US$

2,784,377
1,213,997
13,182,778

3,093,597
1,275,380
13,194,270

1,016,111
716,834
13,122,719

1,449,346
558,546
71,551

628,140
–
–

17,181,152

17,563,247

14,855,664

2,079,443

628,140

650,000
5,693,541

653,775
5,705,033

653,775
5,633,482

–
71,551

–
–

6,343,541

6,358,808

6,287,257

71,551

–

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimising the return on risk.
Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank deposits and
interest-bearing financial liabilities. Interest rate risk is managed by the Group on an on-going basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest expense could be affected by adverse movement in interest
rates. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rates. The Group also does not
hedge interest rate fluctuations.
Sensitivity analysis
For the variable rate interest-bearing financial liabilities, a change of 1% in interest rate at the reporting date would
increase/(decrease) profit or loss by the amounts as shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.
Profit or loss
1%
1%
increase
decrease
US$
US$
Group
31 December 2007
Variable rate financial liabilities

16,481

(16,340)

31 December 2006
Variable rate financial liabilities

18,284

(18,129)
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Financial instruments (cont’d)
Foreign currency risk
The Group incurs foreign currency risk on sale and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than United
States dollars. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily the Singapore dollars and Chinese Renminbi. The
Group does not enter into transactions to hedge against its currency risks.
Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening of United States dollars against the following currencies at the reporting date would increase/
(decrease) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular interest rates, remain constant.

31 December 2007
Group
Singapore dollars
Chinese Renminbi
Company
Singapore dollars
31 December 2006
Group
Singapore dollars
Chinese Renminbi
Company
Singapore dollars

Equity
US$

Profit
or loss
US$

–
168,456

114,976
(349,334)

–

(57,275)

–
232,912

173,646
(371,173)

–

(6,597)

A 10% weakening of United States dollars against the above currencies would have the equal but opposite effect on
the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables, balances with related parties, cash and deposits, trade and
other payables and short-term borrowings approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.
The carrying amount of the Group’s term loan approximates its fair value as it is a floating rate loan.
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Commitments – Group
Capital commitments
Commitments of the Group not reflected in the financial statements at the reporting date are as follows:

Capital expenditure
– authorised but not contracted for
– contracted but not provided for

2007
US$

2006
US$

1,847,583
1,363,747

685,576
797,735

3,211,330

1,483,311

Operating lease commitments
The Group leases its land under operating lease. The lease runs for 30 years, with an option to renew the lease
after that date. Lease payments are usually revised annually to reflect market rentals.
At 31 December 2007, the Group has commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:

Payable
– Within 1 year
– After 1 year but within 5 years
– After 5 years

23

2007
US$

2006
US$

201,218
1,146,126
688,629

67,837
271,348
678,369

2,035,973

1,017,554

Related parties – Group
Key management personnel compensation
Directors of the Group and other personnel who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Group are considered as key management personnel in accordance with FRS 24
– Related parties.
Key management personnel compensation comprises:
2007
US$
Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

2006
US$

792,189
31,346

676,478
28,655

823,535

705,133

Included in key management personnel compensation is remuneration of the directors amounting to US$399,337
(2006: US$424,335). Directors’ remuneration includes salaries, bonuses, fees and other emoluments.
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Related parties – Group (cont’d)
Other related party transactions
For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the
ability directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common control or common
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.
During the financial year, apart from those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, there were the following
significant related party transactions carried out in the normal course of business by the Group with related parties
on terms agreed between the parties:
2007
US$

2006
US$

192,914

168,256

Transactions with a company in which a director of a subsidiary has
substantial financial interest
Sales

24

Accounting estimates and judgement
Estimates and judgements are continually, evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements and other uncertainties affecting application of those
policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in condition and assumptions are factors to be considered
when reviewing the financial statements. The principal accounting policies are set forth in Note 2. The Group
believes the following critical accounting policy involve the most significant judgement and estimate used in the
preparation of the financial statements.
Write-down of inventories
The Group holds a variety of plastic resins and colour pigments to cater to various customers’ demands. The
Group’s inventories are not subject to wear and tear and are obsolete only if the colour pigments are no longer in
use.
Management uses judgement to determine the allowance for stock obsolescence and reviews the allowance for
stock obsolescence on a yearly basis. Actual results could differ from estimates.
Impairment of trade receivables
Trade receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Group reviews its allowance for
doubtful receivables monthly. Balances which are over the credit limit days are reviewed individually for collectibility.
The Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due or past
due up to 120 days for customers that have a good record with the Group.
Accounts balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the
potential for recovery is considered remote. Actual results could differ from estimates.
Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, after taking
into account the estimated residual value. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in
order to determine the amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any reporting period. Changes in the
expected level of use of the assets and the Group’s historical experience with similar assets after taking into account
anticipated technological changes could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of the assets,
therefore future depreciation charges could be revised. Any changes in the economic useful lives could impact the
depreciation charges and consequently affect the Group’s results.
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Accounting estimates and judgement (cont’d)
Income and revenue tax
The Group is subject to income and revenue taxes in a few jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the capital allowances, the types and rates of taxes payable, deductibility of certain expenses, and
taxability of certain income during the estimation of the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the revenue, provision for income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

25

Dividends
After the reporting date, the directors proposed the following dividends. These dividends have not been provided
for:

Proposed one-tier dividend of S$0.01 per share

26

2007
US$

2006
US$

1,446,083

–

New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2007, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements:


FRS 23 Borrowing Costs



FRS 108 Operating Segments



INT FRS 111 FRS 102 Group and Treasury Share Transactions



INT FRS 112 Service Concession Arrangements

Revised FRS 23 Borrowing Costs removes the option to expense borrowing costs and requires that an entity
capitalizes borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as
part of the cost of that asset. The revised FRS 23 will become mandatory for the Group’s 2009 financial statements
and will constitute a change in accounting policy for the Group. In accordance with the transitional provisions, the
Group will apply the revised FRS 23 to qualifying assets for which capitalisation of borrowing costs commences on
or after the effective date.
FRS 108 Operating Segments introduces the “management approach” to segment reporting. FRS 108, which
becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2009 financial statements, will require the disclosure of segment information
based on the internal reports regularly reviewed by the Group’s Chief Financial Officer in order to assess
each segment’s performance and to allocate resources to them. It is not expected to have any impact on the
consolidated financial statements as the Group currently does not present segment information.
INT-FRS 111 FRS 102 Group and Treasury Share Transactions requires a share-based payment arrangement in
which an entity receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments to be accounted for as
an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, regardless of how the equity instruments are obtained. INTFRS 111 FRS 102 will become mandatory for the Group’s 2008 financial statements, with retrospective application
required. It is not expected to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.
INT-FRS 112 Service Concession Arrangements provides guidance on certain recognition and measurement issues
that arise in accounting for public-to-private service concession arrangements. INT-FRS112, which becomes
mandatory for the Group’s 2008 financial statements, is not expected to have any effect on the consolidated financial
statement.
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Issued and fully paid-up capital
Number of shares
Class of shares
Voting rights

:
:
:
:

S$31,306,638.73
209,971,310
Ordinary shares
One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
1 - 999
1,000 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 and above

Number of
Shareholders

%

Number of
Shares

%

0
1,327
235
20

0.00
83.88
14.86
1.26

0
5,437,000
26,501,660
178,032,650

0.00
2.59
12.62
84.79

1,582

100.00

209,971,310

100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Substantial shareholders of the Company (as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders) as at 29 February 2008
are as follows:-

Name
SEAVI Advent Equity IV Fund Limited
Partnership (1)
SEAVI Advent Corporation Limited (1)
SEAVI Advent Holdings Ltd (1)
Yeo Hock Leng
Goh Seok Eng
Lee Low Meng
Fortis Private Equity Asia Fund N. V. (2)
Fortis (2)
Quek Soh Mui, Lucy

Direct Interest

37,125,330
–
122,710
17,976,260
18,011,620
14,427,420
13,178,570
–
13,167,000

No. of Ordinary shares
%
Deemed Interest

17.68
–
0.06
8.56
8.58
6.87
6.28
–
6.27

–
37,125,330
37,125,330
5,236,970
–
–
–
13,178,570
–

%

–
17.68
17.68
2.49
–
–
–
6.28
–

Notes:
(1)

SEAVI Advent Holdings Ltd is the holding company of SEAVI Advent Corporation Limited. SEAVI Advent Corporation Limited
provides investment advice to, and makes investment decisions for SEAVI Advent Equity IV Fund Limited Partnership. SEAVI Advent
Corporation Limited and SEAVI Advent Holdings Ltd are therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by SEAVI Advent
Equity IV Fund Limited Partnership by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

(2)

Fortis Private Equity Asia Fund N.V. is wholly-owned by Fortis. Fortis is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Fortis Private Equity Asia Fund N.V. by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
Name of Shareholders
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

SEAVI Advent Equity Fund IV Fund Limited Partnership
Goh Seok Eng
Yeo Hock Leng
Lee Low Meng
Fortis Private Equity Asia Fund N.V.
Quek Soh Mui, Lucy
Lim Boon Hock Bernard
Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim Chye Huat
Shun Hing Private Equity Limited
Tay Giok Siang
Chia Chue Soong
Stellar Woods Limited
Hoe Puay Choo
Goh Seok Kee
Nylect Holdings Pte Ltd
Lee Kok Chong @ Lee Kok Keong
Ma Fat Ying
Goh Lucy
Leong Wing Kong
UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd
Total

No. of Shares

%

37,125,330
18,011,620
17,976,260
14,427,420
13,178,570
13,167,000
10,100,000
10,000,000
9,651,420
6,009,210
5,470,680
5,236,970
3,549,170
3,329,000
3,000,000
1,874,000
1,700,000
1,641,000
1,274,000
1,261,000

17.68
8.58
8.56
6.87
6.28
6.27
4.81
4.76
4.60
2.86
2.61
2.49
1.69
1.59
1.43
0.89
0.81
0.78
0.61
0.60

177,982,650

84.77

FREE FLOAT
As at 29 February 2008, approximately 35.92% of the shareholding in the Company was held in the hands of the public (on
the basis of information available to the Company). The Company did not hold any treasury shares as at 29 February 2008.
Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Dynamic Colours Limited (the “Company”) will be held
at Sapphire 3, next to Orchid Lodge, Orchid Country Club, 1 Orchid Club Road, Singapore 769162, on Tuesday, 15 April
2008 at 11.00 a.m. for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business
1.

To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2007 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.
(Resolution 1)

2.

To declare a final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 1 Singapore cent per ordinary share for the year ended 31
December 2007.
(Resolution 2)

3.

To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Articles 98 and 107 of the Company’s Articles of Association:
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

Yeo Hock Leng (Article 98)
Sim Beng Chye (Article 107)
Chong Yee Siew Sebastian (Article 107)
Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim Chye Huat (Article 107)

(Resolution
(Resolution
(Resolution
(Resolution

3)
4)
5)
6)

Mr Sim Beng Chye will, upon re-election as Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit Committee
and will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited.
Mr Chong Yee Siew Sebastian will, upon re-election as Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
4.

To re-appoint Messrs KPMG as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 7)
5.

To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:
6.

Authority to allot and issue shares up to fifty per cent. (50%) of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury
shares
“That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806(2) of the Listing Manual of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Listing Manual”), authority be and is hereby given to the
Directors to:(a)

allot and issue shares in the Company; and

(b)

issue convertible securities and any shares in the Company pursuant to convertible securities

(whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise) at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such
purposes and to such persons as the Directors shall in their absolute discretion deem fit, provided that the aggregate
number of shares (including any shares to be issued pursuant to the convertible securities) in the Company to
be issued pursuant to such authority shall not exceed fifty per cent. (50%) of the total number of issued shares
excluding treasury shares, of which the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities issued other than on
a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per cent. (20%) of the total
number of issued shares excluding treasury shares. Unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting,
such authority shall continue in full force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or
the date by which the next Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier, except that
the Directors shall be authorised to allot and issue new shares pursuant to the convertible securities notwithstanding
that such authority has ceased.
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For the purposes of this Resolution and Rule 806(3) of the Listing Manual, the total number of issued shares
excluding treasury shares is based on the issuer’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares at the
time this Resolution is passed after adjusting for:(i)

new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities;

(ii)

new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the
time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with the
rules of the Listing Manual; and

(iii)

any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.”

[See Explanatory Note (i)]
7.

(Resolution 8)

Authority to grant options and issue shares under the Dynamic Colours Employee Share Option Scheme
“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby
authorised to offer and grant options in accordance with the Dynamic Colours Employee Share Option Scheme
(the “Scheme”) and to issue such shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options
granted under the Scheme provided always that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the
Scheme shall not exceed fifteen per cent. (15%) of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares from
time to time.” [See Explanatory Note (ii)]
(Resolution 9)

By Order of the Board

Law Cheong Yan
Company Secretary
Singapore, 28 March 2008
Explanatory Notes:
(i)

The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above Meeting until
the date of the next Annual General Meeting, to allot and issue shares and convertible securities in the Company. The aggregate
number of shares (including any shares issued pursuant to the convertible securities) which the Directors may allot and issue under
this Resolution will not exceed fifty per cent. (50%) of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares (as defined in
Resolution 8) of the Company. For issues of shares and convertible securities other than on a pro-rata basis to all shareholders, the
aggregate number of shares to be issued shall not exceed twenty per cent. (20%) of the total number of issued shares excluding
treasury shares (as defined in Resolution 8) of the Company. This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied at a general
meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. However, notwithstanding the cessation of this authority, the Directors
are empowered to issue shares pursuant to any convertible securities issued under this authority.

(ii)

The Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, to grant options and to
allot and issue shares upon the exercise of such options in accordance with the Dynamic Colours Employee Share Option Scheme.

Notes:
1.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote instead of
him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.

If the appointor is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer or attorney.

3.

The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 55A Yishun Industrial Park A, SL
Building, Singapore 768729, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Annual General Meeting.

DYNAMIC COLOURS LIMITED

IMPORTANT

Company Registration Number 199304233Z
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

1.

For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy
Dynamic Colours Limited shares, the Annual Report is
forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved
Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

PROXY FORM

2.

This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors
and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if
used or purported to be used by them.

I/We

(Name)

of

(Address)

being a member/members of DYNAMIC COLOURS LIMITED (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name

Address

NRIC/Passport
Number

Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

Address

NRIC/Passport
Number

Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name

as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Annual General Meeting of the Company (the “Meeting”)
to be held at Sapphire 3, next to Orchid Lodge, Orchid Country Club, 1 Orchid Club Road, Singapore 769162, on Tuesday,
15 April 2008 at 11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the
Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/
proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any matter arising at the Meeting.

No.

Resolutions Relating to:

1.

Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2007

2.

Payment of final dividend

3.

Re-election of Mr Yeo Hock Leng

4.

Re-election of Mr Sim Beng Chye

5.

Re-election of Mr Chong Yee Siew Sebastian

6.

Re-election of Mr Lim Chye Huat @ Bobby Lim Chye Huat

7.

Re-appointment of Messrs KPMG as Auditors

8.

Authority to issue and allot shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50

9.

Authority to grant options and issue shares under the Dynamic Colours Employee Share
Option Scheme

Dated this

day of

For

Against

2008

Total No. of Shares
In CDP Register
In Register of Members
Signature(s) of Member(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Member

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

No. of Shares

NOTES
1.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

2.

Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding (expressed as a percentage of
the whole) to be represented by each proxy. If no such proportion or number is specified, the first named proxy may be treated as
representing 100% of the shareholding and any second named proxy as an alternate to the first named.

3.

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4.

A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore), he should insert that number of shares. If the
member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert that number of shares. If
the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and registered in his name in the Register of Members,
he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all shares
held by the member.

5.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 55A Yishun Industrial Park A,
SL Building, Singapore 768729, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for the Meeting.

6.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal
or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

7.

Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly
certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the
instrument may be treated as invalid.

GENERAL:
The Company shall be entitled to reject a proxy form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the
appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the proxy form. In addition, in the case of shares entered
in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a proxy form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered
against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central
Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

